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Patrick H. Gillies, Bachelor of Medicine, Bachelor of Surgery, Bachelor of Science, Fellow of the Scottish Society of Arts, c.1930.




Preface


THERE IS ONLY one person alive today with first-hand knowledge of Dr Patrick Gillies: his nephew Walter, Dr Wattie Gillies, remembers his uncle Pat from when he himself was a very small child. Being the youngest in a large, well-spread family, Wattie, now in his eighties, can barely remember what his uncle looked like but he recalls vividly the tales his father told him of the family and their life together.


A portrait of Patrick shows him to be of stocky build with a good head of fair hair. This was carefully plastered with macassar oil for the photograph but when it had been newly washed by rain and dried in the wind it was more likely to be sticking up in a fuzzy halo. What the photograph does not indicate is that he was a little under six feet tall and must have been quite a formidable figure. There is little doubt that he was a big man, for his son Alexander was described in the newspapers as being six feet two inches and his grandson, also a Patrick, must be all of that! Only the laughter lines about his eyes give away the truly benign nature of this kindly man.


The portrait shows the doctor to have been a man who preferred comfortable country clothes. Having a portrait taken in a studio even in 1920 was not a casual affair. One wore one’s best for the occasion or, as in Patrick’s case, what one felt most comfortable in. Patrick did not sport the fashionable black cut-a-way jacket and pinstriped trousers of the rather more self-important members of his profession. As well as being a medical doctor, he was a farmer and proud of it, and, to complete this portrait of a Victorian country gentleman, one feels he could seldom have been seen without a pipe in his mouth. Judging from those of his descendants, his eyes were grey and clear as the winter skies of his beloved Slate Isles. They missed nothing, recording every detail, to be filed away in a well-ordered mind, which remained sharp and humorous until the day he died.


I first encountered the work of Dr Patrick Gillies when, during my first long dark winter on Easdale Island, I was asked to transcribe the contents of one of the doctor’s letter books, which, having been found in the loft of one of the cottages, had been presented to the Easdale Museum. How the book happened to be there remains a mystery to this day but we are indebted to whoever preserved it. The correspondence, including the doctor’s annual reports to the county medical officer, gives a graphic account not only of the ailments but also of the day-to-day living experience of the people of Easdale and the parish of Kilbrandon and Kilchattan.


In what is an exceptionally neat hand for a medical man, Patrick draws a picture of a population of hard-working, skilful men and the womenfolk who fed them, raised their children and kept house in the most difficult of climates. Today we have washing machines and dryers on Easdale Island but the women of Patrick’s era hung their washing out to dry in gale-force winds and were lucky if they got it in before the next downpour. Through Patrick’s letters and reports we see the steady decline of the slate industry – the sole reason for the existence of such an exceptionally large population in the islands. We also witness the rapid increase in the diseases associated with poverty and overcrowding. The records are a microcosm of human endeavour and endurance.


Patrick’s life as the son of a country doctor was never as cushioned as one might perhaps expect. His father died when he was eleven years old and, being the brightest although not the oldest in Dr Hugh Gillies’ family, he took upon himself responsibility for his siblings from an early age. From his mother he learnt frugality so that throughout his life he continued to count the bawbees. If, in some of his correspondence, he appears obsessed with demands for a few pennies here and there, it must be remembered that in 1890 sixpence would have bought a meal for a family. As part of a six-strong team, one man’s income from making a thousand roofing slates was one-sixth part of a pound sterling.


Patrick rarely fought the authorities on his own behalf but he was vociferous in his demands for a decent life for the working men of his district and in that he might be described as a socialist with a small ‘s’. Although firmly rooted in the politically Liberal, middle-class society from which he sprang, he never suffered fools gladly, particularly amongst his ‘ratepayer’ neighbours, and in the pursuit of his philanthropic ends he was apt to tread on a few toes.
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University certificate of merit awarded to P.H. Gillies in 1887.


Recognising his value to their society in general, the parishioners elected him to their school board and their parish council, both bodies of considerable influence at the end of the nineteenth century, and in due course he was invited to become a justice of the peace.


It might be thought that a man with so many commitments would have had little time for literary activities but during the course of his life Patrick gave a number of lectures in both the Gaelic and English languages, wrote numerous articles for learned journals and in 1909 published his history of the Slate Islands, Netherlorn and its Neighbourhood. He was preparing another book, on the life of John Campbell, 1st Marquis of Breadalbane, when he died. For his literary achievements he was invited to become a fellow of the Scottish Royal Society of Arts. Added to all this was his not inconsiderable service in the Army in two wars and his work during a total of twenty-three years, with Argyll County Council.


I am indebted to the Gillies family, in particularly Fiona Hamilton, Davinia Ballantyne and Patricia Suvyer, Patrick’s granddaughters, for allowing me free access to the family archives and for reading the initial manuscript. They provided several items of unrecorded family lore and made a number of useful suggestions which have added colour to this account of Patrick’s life. As always, Murdo McDonald, until lately the archivist of Argyll and Bute Council, was most generous with his time, seeking out obscure references and making my visits to his office always worthwhile. In addition I would like to acknowledge the help given by the curators of the Imperial War Museum, the Museum of the Royal Army Medical Corps and the librarians of both Glasgow and Edinburgh Universities together with staff of the Scottish Records Office. My thanks also to Jean Adams, until lately curator of the Easdale Island Folk Museum, for allowing access to the archives and to the trustees of the Slate Islands Heritage Trust for permission to use photographic material. Finally I would like to thank Hugh Andrew and Andrew Simmons of Birlinn for their encouragement and support and in particular my editor Aline Hill for her observations and many helpful suggestions.


Mary Withall
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Map showing the location of the four slate islands of Belnahua, Easdale, Luing and Seil, and the extent of the Easdale Medical Practice in 1860.




1 Roots and Branches


TODAY’S VISITOR TO Argyll, travelling northwards from the Mull of Kintyre to the more famous tourist attractions of Glen Coe, Fort William and


the Isle of Skye, might well pass, unseeing, the Slate Islands of Netherlorn. They lie just a few hundred metres off shore in the turbulent Sound of Lorn, which separates the larger islands of Jura, Scarba and Mull from the mainland of Argyll. The professional fisherman and the amateur sailor, however, know these islands well as a place of refuge, and will seek out the sheltered coves and inlets in a storm just as did the Viking mariners, who came here a thousand years ago.


The Vikings found here timber for their boats, fodder for their beasts and meat for the table. They also discovered the uniquely rich bounty of these islands, a bounty which would eventually make the islands famous throughout the world. Seil and Luing, Belnahua and Easdale are composed largely of slate, a laminated rock which was laid down as mud six hundred million years ago. The deposits were compressed, contorted and baked by the massive earth movements which created the Highlands of Scotland, and transformed into the hard blue rock which is known to geologists as Easdale Slate.


For many millennia the slate lay exposed to the elements. Its surfaces, crumbled by successive frosts and baking sun, were worn smooth by the rivers and the tides. In time volcanic activity, centred upon the Isle of Mull, spewed lava outwards in concentric circles covering the rocks that had been denuded by weathering with sheets of basaltic lava which formed the rock called Andesite.
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Beds of Easdale slate as they appear on Easdale Island, displaying the acute angle of dip which necessitated quarrying to extreme depths below sea level.


There followed further upheavals which tipped the slate beds over to an angle of approximately thirty-seven degrees and created fissures in the rocks later to be filled with lava after further eruptions of the Mull volcanoes. Throughout the Pleistocene, successive ice ages created raised beaches and shingley shores, many of which were later engulfed when the ice melted. Where sections of the coast have been swamped by the rising sea level, islands of slate rock have been left standing up above the waves, their markedly triangular profiles stark against the western horizon. The Sound of Lorn is dotted with such islands, some of them, like Seil and Luing, are large enough to support a sizeable population, while Easdale and Belnahua, neither of them more than a square mile in area, both supported just a single village. Others again are just small lumps of rock, inhabited only by sea birds and seals.


While volcanoes and ice sheets had in turn a profound effect upon the landscape of the Slate Islands, the changes subsequently brought about by man’s activity are no less important. They resulted from the method of quarrying employed to win the slate rock. Once all the available slate had been removed to sea level, the men began to dig down into the ground following the dip of the tilted slate beds. Over a period of two hundred years or more the quarrying reached depths of as much as seventy metres below sea level. Keeping the quarries dry while the men were working required both ingenuity and perseverance from the engineers who ran the quarries. When work finally ceased at the beginning of the twentieth century these great pits in the ground quickly filled with water, creating a landscape dotted with deep, tranquil pools surrounded by heaps of waste slate.


Today the slate islands present the visitor with a landscape of tranquil beauty. Even the slate waste is slowly becoming covered by vegetation and in spring and early summer the blue-grey rocks are splashed with the bright colours of wild flowers: thyme and thrift; hairbell and lady slipper; stonecrop and ling.


Neolithic Man used slabs of the slate rock for flooring and to cover the cists of the dead. The Vikings cut and carved the slate slabs into elaborate gravestones, while the great Scottish warlords of the twelfth and thirteenth centuries used the rock to roof their castles. Roofing slates were made by splitting the rock to separate the laminations and trimming the flat, thin sheets into rectangles which, when laid, overlapping, across a timber roof, made a fine waterproof covering. So durable are these blue Easdale slates, readily distinguished by their generous scattering of golden crystals of iron pyrites, that they have remained unaltered on some buildings for hundreds of years, only the timber that supports them having to be replaced from time to time.


By the end of the seventeenth century the Earl of Breadalbane and his cousin the Duke of Argyll, who between them owned most of the county and much of Perthshire and Stirlingshire besides, began to exploit the slate deposits on a commercial basis and in 1745 a company was formally registered, the Easdale Marble and Slate Quarrying Company. Villages were built to accommodate the influx of workers and because of the dangerous nature of the work a surgeon was appointed to minister to the men and their families.


It was into this environment that Patrick Hunter Gillies was born, the son of a country doctor, in 1869 in the tiny township of Caolas at the most westerly point of the Isle of Seil. The settlement was at the time composed of a few cottages gathered around the tiny harbour of Easdale and overshadowed by the towering cliffs of Ben Mor. While Caolas itself had been settled from earliest times, in the first two decades of the nineteenth century the village had been enlarged to accommodate a growing population of quarry workers. The quarrymen and their families were housed in three rows of terraced, whitewashed cottages whose harled stone walls and slated roofs were a match for anything the elements might send against them. In winter these houses are swept by gales from the north and west and the shores beside them are pounded by the Atlantic Ocean. In summer the winds veer to the south-west bringing more gentle rain and calmer seas but the warmer weather is accompanied by the mighty Highland midge, today the scourge of holidaymakers but once the bane of those obliged to carry on their work amongst clouds of the tiny marauders in the early morning and as the day drew to a close!


A hundred and fifty metres off shore, the island of Easdale sported a fine harbour of its own and a village of quarry workers’ houses which had been built a quarter of a century earlier than those on Seil. Easdale Island accommodated some four hundred and fifty people in 1870 while the population of Easdale Village on Seil was around three hundred. Because the whole district was called Easdale, the two settlements came to be known as the Island and the Village, and, although the manager of the quarries was responsible for the work of both, the inhabitants set themselves apart from one another as though they might be two different nations. Should a girl from the Island marry a man from the Village she was waved off from her home island on her wedding day as though she were going to a faraway, foreign land.
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Caolas, the township on the north shore of Ellenabeich harbour, as it is today. Several of the houses were already in place in 1863 when Dr Hugh Gillies arrived in Easdale.


The proximity of the sea and the presence of two sheltered harbours separated by a sound deep enough to allow the passage and mooring of large coastal vessels allowed Easdale to become an important port of call along the west coast. A fine wooden pier was constructed at Easdale Village on Seil in the 1870s to accommodate passenger- and cargo-carrying steamers, and the villagers travelled regularly by sea, north to Oban and Inverness and south to Crinan and Glasgow. By contrast, the roads were for the most part unmetalled, pot-holed and unsuitable for traffic other than the occasional farm cart, pony trap or horseman.


Ships came from far afield to Easdale in order to carry away the slates manufactured in the slate villages. First it was Glasgow and the burgeoning cities of the east coast of Scotland – Inverness, Aberdeen, Dundee and Edinburgh – that created a demand. Later, orders came from England and Ireland, the east-coast cities of the Americas, the West Indies, the Baltic states and even Australia and New Zealand. For the young Patrick Gillies and his siblings it was an education in itself simply to wander along the quay, listening to the talk of sailors from around the world, come to this unlikely port of call to buy their supplies of slate. It was in this cosmopolitan atmosphere that Patrick the boy grew up into the man he was, his mind ever open to new ideas and looking always beyond the horizon to new adventures and fresh challenges.
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Aerial view of Ellenabeich. The three rows of quarriers’ cottages with their two narrow streets are clearly visible. Easdale Island, with its excellent harbour and ancient cottages, some built as early as 1770, lies 120 metres off shore. The large quarry to the west of Ellenabeich Village was breached during the storm of November 1881 and has remained flooded ever since. What was once the Island of Birches was quarried away, waste slate being dumped in the narrow channel between the island and Caolas on Seil Island. On this man-made ground quarrymen’s cottages were erected in the 1820s.





While the coastal villages of Seil and Easdale together with those on the adjoining Slate Islands of Luing and Belnahua were engaged from dawn until dusk in heavy industry, creating both noise and dust, the countryside all around remained apparently untouched by this activity.


In addition to their slate deposits, the Slate Islands of Netherlorn are comprised of high ridges of hard volcanic rock covered in gorse and heather. The steeper slopes are grazed by sheep while the deep narrow valleys between are fertile pockets of lush grasses where cattle may graze and where grain and flax may be grown.


Today the hillsides are covered in dark, monotonous swathes of Canadian and Scandinavian pines, planted in the mid-twentieth century, but when Patrick was a young lad, roaming the hills with his brothers, the woodlands he explored were ancient oakwoods and coppices of ash and alder abundant with wildlife which might be hunted or trapped, provided His Lordship’s gillies were nowhere in the offing. The numerous burns and lochans abounded in salmon and sea trout and, like all the lads of his generation, Patrick learned early how to angle for these elusive fish. He spent many hours in quiet solitude, observing the wild creatures around him. These early roamings gave him an intimate knowledge of the countryside surrounding his home and led him in later years to write in vivid terms about Netherlorn and its neighbourhood. His parents’ various servants and the villagers with whom the boy Patrick mingled had a rich store of folktales which they shared with him and which he later remembered in his writings and lectures.


Although while in school Patrick and his siblings were obliged to speak and write English, his mother’s house servants and his father’s patients for the most part spoke Gaelic. Patrick himself became fluent in both languages and was able throughout his life to communicate freely in either.
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Patrick Gillies aged 6, c.1875.
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Patrick’s brother Hugh aged 10, c.1880.


Patrick’s early days were spent in close contact with the families of fishermen and agricultural workers as well as those of the quarrymen. Because of his father’s position as one of the few professional men in the district, Patrick was also at ease amongst the families of the tenant farmers, of the minister, the local lawyer and even that of the Marquis of Breadalbane himself whose country seat was Ardmaddy Castle, situated on the Argyll mainland but within the bounds of his father’s medical practice. Thus, in complete contrast with the majority of the middle classes of the day, Patrick was able to bridge the gap between master and servant, rich and poor, and because he was, above all things, a compassionate human being, he was never backward in furthering the interests of his working-class neighbours.


From the day he was born, Patrick Gillies was destined to become one of the outstanding medical men of his day but his other interests in many ways eclipsed his medical prowess, phenomenal though this was. An unusual combination of social awareness, aestheticism, literary aptitude and scientific expertise led him along a number of different pathways where he seems to have excelled in whatever task he undertook. It was his rugged determination to do right, his kindness in the adversity of others and his resilience during his own times of trial, which endeared him to those who knew him best. His strong sense of humour, his deep understanding of the human psyche and his great spirit of adventure created a colourful background against which to display his works. A glance into his ancestry tells us a great deal about the remarkable gene pool from which Patrick Hunter Gillies emerged.


Like so many Scottish families the Gillies are able to trace their ancestry back to the times when there were no surnames, when a man was known by what he did for a living or by some feat achieved on the field of battle. Succeeding generations then took the name of the father. Mac, the son of, precedes many a Scottish family name. A gillie was, and is, a gamekeeper, the man who tends the game birds and animals and protects the stock on his master’s lands, keeping at bay those who might seek to steal it. One may imagine therefore that within Patrick’s genes there existed an inborn capacity for appreciation and deep understanding of the countryside, which manifested itself in later years in his written accounts of the district in which he lived.


Mr Jack McIntyre of Royston, Herts, has traced the family tree back as far as 1514, to Eogan of Glenmore on the Isle of Skye. A second early ancestor was Donald Mhor (Donald the Great, or Big), who died in 1630. The first mention of anyone of the name of Gillies is in a sasine of 1667 in which one Donald Gillies of Durcha is said to have held land in Argyll. There is little doubt that Patrick’s ancestors originated in Ireland and were among those Scotti who accompanied to Argyll the Irish priests of the sixth century, such as Brendon of Clonfert and Kattan, who gave their names to the Slate Islands parishes of Kilbrandon and Kilchattan, and Columba, who first built a settlement on Eilean Naomin, the most westerly of the Garvellach islands in the Sound of Lorn, before travelling on to set up his more famous abbey on Iona.


For many generations the Gillies family held tenancy in Kilmartin Glen, to the north of the village of Kilmartin in Argyll, beneath the walls of Carnasserie Castle and it was here that Patrick’s father, Hugh Gillies, was born in 1836, the youngest son of John Gillies, one-time tenant of Auchoist Farm, Lochgilphead and tacksman to the Duke of Argyll. Despite his own farming background, John Gillies was not slow to recognise scholarly potential in at least two of his nine children, encouraging them to study for a profession. In this he was assisted by his brother, also Hugh, the schoolmaster at the nearby village of Kilmichael Glassary. Thus it was that Hugh Gillies’ brother, Alexander, eight years his senior, studied medicine and emigrated to Australia in the 1850s. There he began his own dynasty of Gillies doctors, which included Malcolm Gillies, one of the founders of the town of Bowen in Queensland. Hugh also chose to study medicine rather than either the ministry or law and at the age of eighteen entered his name on the roll of students at the Andersonian University of Glasgow from whence he graduated with honours in both surgery and physic in 1859 at the age of twenty-three years. Unlike many students of his day he did not engage in wild behaviour but spent his time studying diligently, as his professors observed; R. Newton MD, Professor of Surgery testified that he ‘conducted himself throughout in the most exemplary manner’, while James MacShie MD, Superintendent of the Glasgow Royal Infirmary wrote ‘In all respects he has proved himself to be a man of diligent and industrious habits and is well qualified for the exercise of his profession.’


Rather surprisingly for those days, Hugh also obtained a diploma in midwifery, which was to stand him in good stead in his work amongst the well-populated quarry villages of the Slate Islands. Hugh’s first post as a medical practitioner was in the parish of Glenorchy and Inishail, which surrounds the eastern end of Loch Awe and stretches as far east as Tyndrum. Although the principal village is Dalmally, Hugh’s practice covered also the more remote regions of Glenorchy, Glen Shae and the surrounding mountains. Home visits required the doctor to travel great distances, either on foot or on horseback, often in the foulest weather. Appointed by the Earl of Breadalbane on the recommendation of his professors, Hugh spent two-and-a-half years amongst the people of Glenorchy before transferring, at the request of His Lordship, to the slate quarrying Easdale District of Netherlorn. So highly was Hugh’s work valued in Glenorchy that his patients, dismayed by his proposed departure, raised a petition carrying one hundred names begging him to remain. His Lordship’s wishes prevailed however, and when Hugh eventually left the district he was showered with gifts and messages of goodwill. So high was his standing in this community that at his untimely death, some twenty years later, the parishioners of Glenorchy insisted upon being included in the subscription list for Hugh’s memorial.


There is little doubt that Hugh Gillies was already familiar with the quarrying villages of the Slate Islands before he came there to settle in the year 1863. There were members of the Gillies family, albeit distant cousins, already established on the islands of Luing and Belnahua and there was a good deal of movement, intermarriage and business association between the various branches. As a bachelor, it is likely Hugh lodged first of all with one of these relatives before he obtained the lease on a small house at Caolas.


The medical practice to which Hugh Gillies came in 1863 was much the same in extent as is the Easdale practice today. In the south it was bounded by the village of Kilmelford and the south-eastern shore of the Degnish peninsula. At Kilmelford, there was a gunpowder mill employing a large number of men, and numerous calls were made on the doctor’s services from the gunpowder workers and their families. The peninsula of Degnish is bisected by a ridge of high ground supporting little but grazing for sheep and, on the lower slopes, woodland, which in those days provided the charcoal essential for the manufacture of gunpowder and to a lesser extent in the operation of the slate quarries.
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Map showing the extent of the Easdale slate beds. Outcrops occur from north Jura northeastwards at intervals along the line of the Great Glen fault, but only at Easdale and Ballachulish were the slates quarried extensively on a commercial basis.


Facing north-west across Balvicar Sound is Ardmaddy Castle, at that time the country seat of the Earl of Breadalbane. When the nobleman’s family was in residence, the doctor paid frequent visits to the castle to attend His Lordship, his family and members of his staff. To the east, the practice extended as far as the village of Kilmore at the eastern end of Loch Feochan, and the north shore of the loch formed the northern boundary of the doctor’s territory.


The major part of the practice however lay amongst the Slate Islands of Seil, Luing, Easdale and Belnahua, and a number of smaller inhabited islands such as Lunga and Torsa. Although, particularly on Luing and Seil, there was a substantial population engaged in agricultural activities, the greatest numbers worked in the slate quarries, the villages being ranged around the more prolific quarries of Easdale Island, Easdale Village and Balvicar on Seil, Toberonochy and Cullipool on Luing and the island of Belnahua where more than one third of the island had been dug away to provide roofing slates for the developing town of Oban.


In 1863 the quarries were at the peak of their output, producing as many as nine million slates a year and exporting them around the globe. Night and day the air would have been filled with the constant beat of the water pumps removing rainwater and seawater which had seeped through the rocks, hampering the quarrying operations. By this date most of the quarries had been hollowed out to more than a hundred feet below sea level. During daylight hours the pumps were joined by the steady tap-tapping of the slate cutters’ hammers as they worked away in their tiny makeshift shelters to the accompaniment of the squeaking and groaning of the winding gear hauling ton upon ton of rock to the surface. And, like the big base drum in the orchestra, at intervals throughout the day the air would be rent by explosions as a wall of rock was blasted away somewhere deep below sea level.


When Hugh Gillies arrived to take up his new job, Easdale Island and the village of Easdale on Seil each sustained a population of four hundred and fifty men, women and children, while in total the population of the parish of Kilbrandon and Kilchattan boasted nearly three thousand souls. At the same time, the entire population of the adjoining parish of Kilmore and Kilbride, which included the Burgh of Oban, amounted to less than two thousand.


The imposition of so large a body of people upon such a remote, not to say forbidding, environment placed upon the Easdale Quarrying Company certain obligations towards its workforce. Seeing the importance of maintaining a contented and healthy community, in addition to providing medical cover for the men and their families the Quarrying Company provided schools for the children and a company store to ensure that the men and their families were well catered for in good times and bad.


An important innovation was the introduction of a medical insurance scheme which ensured that no family would suffer unduly if the breadwinner was injured or taken ill as a result of his work. At the cost of a few shillings a year the quarrymen were guaranteed medical attendance for themselves and their families; only confinements and certain items of surgical apparatus were charged for. This was an excellent scheme from the doctor’s point of view as well since it provided a guaranteed source of income which he was able to augment with fees from his private practice, the difference here being that whereas the men’s contributions were automatically deducted from their wages every payday, Hugh’s private patients were often reluctant to settle their doctor’s bills until forced to do so.


The major landowner in the district was the Earl of Breadalbane himself, and most land and property was leased from him. Once he had settled in Caolas, Hugh negotiated the lease of a small house where he was to spend his first nine years in the practice. At this time a professional gentleman would expect to augment his income from the proceeds of the policies surrounding his house. Unfortunately Hugh’s tenancy at Caolas did not include any cultivable land. At Dunmore, on the outskirts of the village, the substantial Dunmore House was occupied by the leaseholder of the quarries, a Mr Bett from Glasgow. Mr Bett had no interest in working the farm which was attached to Dunmore House and was pleased to sublet the farm buildings and loch to the new doctor. Unable to work the land himself on a regular basis, Hugh was obliged to install a farm manager in the farmhouse, but was nevertheless able to draw a substantial additional income from this investment.


Among the first people with whom Hugh became intimately acquainted was John Whyte, the manager of the Easdale Quarries. Born in Dalmally, the son of a farm labourer, John had benefited from the Earl of Breadalbane’s policy of nurturing the talent found amongst his own people. By providing the most able with education and training, His Lordship was able to procure a substantial, well-equipped workforce with which to operate his vast estates, and his benevolence procured the loyalty of employees and tenants alike. Most of the earl’s professional appointees, lawyers, clergymen and doctors were from among his own people. Although there is no evidence to prove it there is every likelihood that Hugh Gillies had also benefited from Breadalbane’s patronage.


John Whyte, a pupil gifted in mathematics and sciences, was encouraged to stay on at school until, at the age of fifteen, he took an apprenticeship with a firm of mining engineers. His apprenticeship completed, he was appointed to the Easdale quarries in 1842, the year John Campbell, nephew of the 16th Earl of Breadalbane, succeeded to the title. The new earl had spent much of his childhood at Ardmaddy where his father was the captain of the castle and acted as the earl’s agent in the district. As a child John Campbell had played with the village children and many of the quarry workers at the time of his succession were his childhood friends. By 1863 when Hugh Gillies arrived to take up his medical duties, the earl and the engineer had improved the operation of the quarries to new heights of efficiency and the increased output promised to ensure a prosperous future for everyone. The appearance upon the scene of a young, imaginative and well-qualified doctor completed the trio which, acting in unison, looked set to improve even further the everyday lives of the slate workers.


John Whyte and Hugh Gillies became firm friends and enthusiastic colleagues, while the relationship of both men with the earl was always warm and friendly. John Whyte exhibited a degree of social conscience, rare amongst employers of the time. Hugh’s natural instinct was to support the weak and oppressed. Concerned that boys of eleven years of age were starting work in the quarries only half educated, the two men provided evening classes to improve the workers’ knowledge of mathematics, science, engineering and the English language. With the help of the parish minister and occasional visiting speakers, they themselves provided the teaching and the Easdale Technical Institute was established. Although it faltered occasionally, at times when the industry was in difficulties, the institute survived into the early years of the twentieth century.


The local form of communication was Gaelic but John Whyte, observing the difficulties experienced in the quarries whenever he brought in extra labour from Lowland Scotland and across the Border, decided that the language of communication in the quarries should be English. Anxious to gain a command of the language, many older men joined the evening classes in English and stayed on to improve their general knowledge of engineering and science. In the 1870s, with the introduction of the Education (Scotland) Act of 1872, English became the language of the schoolroom and for many years the use of Gaelic, even in the school yard, was strictly forbidden. As a consequence of this sadly misjudged solution to a problem which might have been resolved by less Draconian means, there are very few Gaelic speakers in Easdale District today, despite recent valiant attempts by primary schools to rectify the error.


At this prosperous period for the slate industry, Hugh Gillies’ daily round was largely restricted to attending accident cases in the quarries and the Melfort powder works and the confinements of the wives of the working men. The diseases of poverty and neglect, poor sanitation and inadequate housing found amongst the agricultural workers were hardly ever found in the quarry villages. Reported cases of cholera, enteric fever (typhoid) and tuberculosis were rare.


Little more than a year after Hugh came to Easdale the happy association between John Campbell, 16th Earl of Breadalbane, and his two friends came to an abrupt end when the earl died suddenly at his family seat of Taymouth Castle. The accession of Gavin Campbell, 17th Earl of Breadalbane, was to bring great changes to the Easdale quarrying community. Gavin, unlike his predecessor, took little personal interest in the quarries and was content to lease them to a group of Glasgow businessmen who had interests in the construction industry. These gentlemen, concerned only to produce the largest number of slates for the least financial investment, took little interest in the welfare of their workforce and, with a steady reduction of investment in new equipment, conditions in the quarries became even more dangerous. Hugh’s workload grew by leaps and bounds as the number and severity of the accidents increased. No longer were the dependents of injured men and the widows of those killed taken care of by the company and, for the first time, quarry workers’ families began to seek help from the parish council.


Both Hugh Gillies and John Whyte were, by virtue of their position in the community, members of the parish council and it was their job to administer the Poor Law. John Whyte, unable to look on while the organisation that he and John Campbell had so painstakingly created, was slowly destroyed, resigned his post and moved to another position on the east coast, leaving behind his eldest son, Angus, as master of the Easdale Quarries. Angus, just a year or two younger than Hugh, took his father’s place as the doctor’s colleague and the two men were to work side by side for nearly twenty years, attempting to stay the decline which had been so thoughtlessly inspired by the new lessees.


Hugh Gillies remained a bachelor for another three years before marrying Janet Hunter, a farmer’s daughter from the parish of Aberlemno in Inverness-shire. This was a happy choice of bride by the young doctor for Janet, or Jessie Hunter as she was known amongst her friends and family, was an independent young woman, well schooled in the skills and duties of a farmer’s daughter. Tall and elegant, she commanded the respect and admiration of the community, effectively gracing the doctor’s position in the parish. A ‘modern’ woman in every sense, she was both intelligent and resourceful. It was she who persuaded Hugh to remain at Caolas until a house became available which had its own farm attached. With such a competent farmer for a wife, Hugh no longer needed to employ a farm manager to run his present agricultural interests. Jessie herself, with the help of a couple of labourers, now undertook the management of the farm at Dunmore.


With Hugh totally absorbed in his medical work and his dealings with the parish council and Jessie having a free hand with the farm, the couple settled down, happily looking forward to the birth of their first child. There was no doubt that the house at Caolas, although large enough to accommodate the medical practice and Hugh and Jessie on their own, was not going to be suitable for a family. Within weeks of becoming pregnant with her first child, Jessie began looking for a more suitable house.
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Jessie Gillies, Patrick’s mother (seated), with her daughter
Janet (also Jessie) and a family friend, 1880s.


Their ownership of the lease on Dunmore Farm restricted their choice of an alternative house since it would be impractical for them to live at any great distance from the farm and the livestock. The only realistic place for them to live was Dunmore House itself but unfortunately Mr Bett seemed set to remain where he was for many years to come! He had not however reckoned with the force of Cupid’s arrow. During a visit to the doctor’s home at Caolas, Jessie’s sister, Elizabeth Hunter, chanced to meet Mr Bett at a social gathering in the village hall. The apparently confirmed bachelor from Glasgow had so far managed to avoid the snares of city society and had been quite unmoved by the charms of those unmarried daughters who were paraded before him in the more fashionable city drawing rooms. Under the spell of a moonlit Easdale night however, Mr Bett fell in love with Liza Hunter and within a few short weeks he had plighted his troth and been accepted. The couple were married soon after and Liza moved into the grand house which her sister coveted.
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A view of Dunmore Farm meadow. The road linking Balvicar and Ellenabeich runs beside the shore where the Gillies doctors kept their boat ready for emergency calls. Turnips and kale were grown as fodder for the stock on part of the ground. The remainder was cultivated for hay, the crops being rotated to conserve the quality of the soil.





Although born to life on an Inverness-shire farm, Liza had no interest in the land and lacked entirely any of her sister’s farming instincts. She had spent her girlhood longing for the bright lights and had her heart set upon moving to Mr Bett’s Glasgow residence as soon as possible. From the start she was determined that her husband should be persuaded to give up his tenancy at Easdale and move back to his Glasgow residence from where he would be able to conduct his business equally well. Unable to deny his new bride anything, when in 1873 the time came to renew his lease, Bett relinquished his tenancy. With prior knowledge of his brother-in-law’s intentions, Hugh Gillies wasted no time in approaching Breadalbane’s agent with his bid for the tenancy and Jessie’s joy was unbounded when he finally signed a twelve-year lease for both house and farm.




[image: illutration]


Dunmore House as it appears today. To the left is the eighteenth-century portion of the building, which was extended in the early nineteenth century. Twentieth-century additions are out of sight at the rear. The fenestration is largely unaltered, although some of the Georgian panes have been replaced by larger sheets of glass. Some older panes bear signatures inscribed by the Gillies children, presumably using someone’s diamond ring!








With three children already and another on the way, the move was none too soon so far as Jessie was concerned. Her first son, John, had been born in the house at Caolas in 1867, towards the end of the Gillies’ first year of marriage. In two years, Patrick Hunter Gillies had arrived on the scene to be followed, one year later, by his brother Hugh. To help her with the household chores and to take care of the children, Jessie hired a servant from the village. This lady, steeped in the folklore and history of Lorn, was the source of much of the young Patrick’s knowledge of the history of the area. Miss Campbell was a Gaelic speaker and it was in this language that the children in her charge first learnt to speak. Thus it was that by the time they went to the village school all the Gillies children were bilingual. Both Patrick and Hugh remained fluent in both spoken and written Gaelic throughout their lives.
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Dr Hugh Gillies, Patrick’s father, c.1880. Hugh was medical officer to the Easdale Slate Quarrying Company from 1859 until his early death in 1880.


The doctor’s family finally moved into Dunmore House in the late summer of 1873, the year that Patrick Hunter Gillies started school. It was to remain the family home for the next forty years.


Dunmore proved to be the perfect location for the doctor’s residence. The house was of eighteenth-century construction under a gabled and slated roof, and was of substantial proportions, having a number of large public rooms as well as sufficient bedrooms to accommodate the family, which had recently increased to four on the arrival three months before of a daughter, Janet (later called Jessie like her mother). To Jessie’s delight the very large farmhouse kitchen was augmented by a dairy of sufficient proportions to allow for a small commercial enterprise.


Situated within easy distance from Easdale village and the quarries on Eas-dale Island, the property had its own stretch of shoreline where the doctor could moor a boat to take him to the nearby islands within his practice. The house was two miles from Balvicar village where crossroads gave access to all parts of the Slate Islands either, by sea or over land. The house was three miles by road from the new parish church of Kilbrandon on the Cuan road although it is most likely the family walked to church on a Sunday by way of the shortcut over Smithy Brae and past the ancient hill-fort of Cnoc an Tighe Mhoir. The villages of Clachan and Kilmelford were easily accessed by pony trap or on horseback, by way of hill tracks, while Ardmaddy Castle could be reached by use of ferry boat from Balvicar.
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The older parts of Dunmore House remain much as they were in the 1880s. The delicate balustrade and very fine plaster cornices are typical of building standards of the late eighteenth and early nineteenth century.


The farm proved ideal for Jessie’s purposes. There was grazing for some two hundred sheep and a small herd of dairy cattle while the valley floor supported crops of grain and winter fodder for the beasts. Turnips and kale, potatoes and other root vegetables were grown to feed both the family and the animals. The milk was sold locally as were the cheese and butter which Jessie herself made in the dairy. Further up the glen there were two small steadings called Cairnban and an Grianan, which were held by subtenants who were available to help out on the main farm when needed.


John Gillies, Hugh and Jessie’s first born, was never a willing scholar. Even when a schoolboy he was far happier helping out around the farm or out fishing with the men from the village than he was confined to the schoolroom. He left the village school at the first opportunity and began to work full-time on the family farm.


Patrick, on the other hand, showed from an early age a quick intelligence and a prodigious memory for detail. Within a few short years he had become his father’s constant companion, accompanying him on his rounds and familiarising himself with much of the difficult terminology of the physician. Perhaps more importantly, at this stage in his development he became familiar with the whole range of the human condition, joining Hugh on his visits to both the richest and poorest homes in the neighbourhood. Patrick cannot have failed to notice his father’s manner in dealing with his patients for Hugh Gillies treated everyone, whether it was the earl in his castle or the lonely widow in her dismal bothy, with an equal degree of concern and courtesy. In his social dealings with the parishioners, the good doctor was as content to drink a tankard of ale with quarrymen in the Tigh an Truish Inn as he was to sip Madeira wine in Her Ladyship’s boudoir. He and Jessie were as comfortable joining in the singing and dancing at a ceilidh in the village as they were listening to a string quartet in the castle ballroom.


As he grew older, Patrick was to adhere always to his father’s principles of benevolence and compassion, but this legacy of social awareness was tempered by a frugality and practicality which must be attributed to his mother.
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The study at Dunmore House today: it was fitted out by either Hugh or Patrick Gillies as a dispensary and consulting room.




2 Some Rites of Passage


THE COMPULSORY EDUCATION Act had been in force less than two years when, in 1874, Patrick Gillies was old enough to start school. The new legislation had little immediate effect upon the slate villages which were already served by a relatively efficient education system. Soon after the formation of the Easdale Marble and Slate Quarrying Company in 1745, Breadalbane had provided schooling for the children of his quarry workers and others on his estates. Although by 1874 the parish school, which was at that time situated on the outskirts of the village of Balvicar, had fallen into disrepair there were a number of small, privately run schools in the district – on the islands of Luing, Belnahua and Easdale, at Caolas and at Clachan – which were operating successfully. It is almost certain that the infant Patrick began his school career in the house of one of the ladies of Caolas who provided basic education for a few pupils in her own front parlour.


One of the provisions of the 1873 Education Act was the formation of a school board to oversee the provision of education within each parish. In the parish of Kilbrandon and Kilchattan, by virtue of their position in the community, this body included among its number Doctor Hugh Gillies and Angus Whyte, the manager of the Easdale quarries. The first task of the new board was to raise money sufficient to build schools and accommodation for a schoolmaster in each of the major villages in the parish.


The Education Department (Scotland), which was based at Westminster, gave a substantial grant towards the cost of these buildings but the remainder of the money, which had to come from the local community, was provided by the Easdale Quarrying Company augmented by private subscription. The land was donated by Breadalbane and the schools were constructed to a standard pattern designed by Breadalbane’s own architect and used for similar buildings throughout his estates.


Four schools were planned for. One of these was at Clachan (Ardencaple School, not far from the Clachan Bridge), two others were to be built in the villages of Cullipool and Toberonochy on Luing, and the fourth at Easdale. Three of the schools were completed and handed over to their schoolmasters in the year 1877. At Cullipool, where the parish school had been established in a fairly substantial building belonging to the quarrying company and was running very efficiently, the board decided to delay expenditure on any new construction until the three other schools in the parish were considered to be running satisfactorily. It was a pattern all too familiar in local government enterprise. Building of the fourth school, at Cullipool, was delayed for so long it never materialised!
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